IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

JAN 1 0 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY

KENNETH GRANT,

Petitioner,

: Case No. 1999-164

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent. :

.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal (which is reproduced in the Appendix of this brief) will be designated "A", followed by the appropriate page number.

References to the record before the Second District will be designated "R", followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed November 18, 1997, in Pinellas County Circuit Court charged Kenneth Grant, Appellant, with sexual battery, a second degree felony (R8-9). The State provided notice that a habitual offender sentence would be sought ((R12).

On November 30, 1998, Appellant served a "Motion to Declare Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997) to be Unconstitutional or to Determine that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is Inapplicable to the Defendant" (R13-32). At a hearing held the same day before Circuit Judge Richard A. Luce, the judge outlined the possible penalties that would be applicable based upon the State's assertion that Appellant qualified as a prison releasee reoffender and a violent career criminal (R91-4). Appellant admitted that he had been to prison "at least three times" (R95). The judge then offered a 15 year mandatory sentence pursuant to the prison releasee reoffender act if Appellant would plead to this offense (R95). The judge promised concurrent guidelines sentences on the other cocaine possession charges (R96). The judge also clarified that he would impose 15 years pursuant to the habitual felony offender sentencing provisions (R96).

Defense counsel then argued that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act was unconstitutional as applied to Appellant, but conceded that identical motions had previously been rejected by the court (R97-8). The court adhered to the prior rulings, but declared that the issue was preserved for appellate review (R98). Appellant agreed to plead no contest to the sexual battery charge

in return for the offered sentence and reserving the right to appeal the constitutional issue (R99-104, 67-8).

The judge noted that a certificate from the Department of Corrections indicated that Appellant was last released from prison on May 31, 1996 (R105). He found that the new offense was within three years, and imposed a 15 year mandatory sentence as a prison releasee reoffender (R106, 77-9). The judge further detailed the exhibits supporting Appellant's classification as a habitual offender and found that Appellant qualified (R106-7). A concurrent 15 year sentence with a habitual felony offender designation was imposed (R107, 77-9).

A timely notice of appeal was filed December 17, 1998 to the Second District Court of Appeal (R82). In an opinion filed November 24, 1999, the Second District held that \$775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997), the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act, was constitutional. The court discussed constitutionality of the Act with reference to the single subject requirement, separation of powers, cruel and unusual punishment, vagueness, due process, equal protection, and ex post facto challenges (A2-6). The court also addressed a separate issue where Grant argued that imposition of both a habitual offender sentence and a prison releasee reoffender sentence for a single offense violated double jeopardy. The Second District held that because the 15 year minimum mandatory sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act was made concurrent with the 15 year habitual offender sentence, there was no error (A6-7).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review Grant's case on two grounds. First, the Second District expressly construed the constitutionality of a statute and declared it valid. This Court has already accepted review of similar decisions holding \$775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) valid which were issued from other district courts of appeal. Second, the holding that a defendant may be sentenced as both a habitual felony offender and a prison releasee reoffender for a single offense is in conflict with decisions from other district courts of appeal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY DECLARES A STATE STATUTE VALID, GIVING THIS COURT JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO FLA. R. APP. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i).

The opinion issued by the Second District (see Appendix) expressly declares §775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) (the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act) to be valid. The opinion discusses constitutional challenges grounded upon the single subject requirement (A2), separation of powers (A3), cruel and unusual punishment (A4), vagueness (A4-5), due process (A5), equal protection (A6), and ex post facto (A6). The opinion also notes that this Court has granted review on cases from other district courts of appeal which have upheld the statute against attacks on its constitutionality, e.q., Speed v. State, 732 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. granted, Case No. 95,706 (Fla. September 16, 1999); Woods v. State, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. granted, 740 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1999); McKnight v. State, 727 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA), rev. granted, 740 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1999)

Since then, this Court has also granted review in <u>King V.</u>

<u>State</u>, 729 so. 2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA), Case No. 95,669 (Fla.

November 15, 1999) and <u>Lookadoo v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 637 (Fla.

5th DCA), Case No. 96,460 (Fla. November 15, 1999). Both of these decisions accepted for review also found the Prison

Releasee Reoffender Act to be constitutional.

This Court should exercise its discretion to review Grant's case for the same reasons that it granted review in previous decisions from other district courts of appeal which declared the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act valid.

ISSUE II

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS FROM OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW, GIVING THIS COURT JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO FLA. R. APP. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

The opinion issued by the Second District (see Appendix) holds that imposition of a mandatory sentence under the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act which runs concurrently with a habitual felony offender sentence on the same offense does not violate constitutional provisions against double jeopardy (A6-7). This holding directly conflicts with the Fourth District's decision in Adams v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2394 (Fla. 4th DCA October 20, 1999). In Adams, the court held that imposition of sentences as both a habitual felony offender and as a prison releasee reoffender for the same offense violated the double jeopardy guarantee against multiple punishments. The Adams court also determined that the Legislature did not intend to authorize "double sentences" when it enacted the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning and authorities, Kenneth Grant petitions this Court to grant review of the Second District's decision in <u>Grant v. State</u>, Case No. 98-04943.