FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 27 2000

KENNETH GRANT,

CLERK, SUPREME COURY BY_____

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Case No. 99-164

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 175130 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the **case** with the following additions and corrections:

Petitioner was charged by information 97-14248 with the offense of sexual battery, a felony in the second degree (R 8-9). The offense to place on August 5, 1997. the victim being C. G. The petitioner was charged with placing his penis into or in union with the vagina of Ms. G. without her consent and in the process using physical force or violence not likely to cause serious bodily injury, in that he choked her causing her to submit to the sexual battery (R 8). Petitioner was served with notice of the state's intent to seek enhanced penalty pursuant to F.S. 775.084 (R 11-12). The defense filed a motion to declare section 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) (Prison Releasee Reoffender Act) to be unconstitutional or to determine that the act is not applicable to the appellant (R 13-32).

A hearing was held on November 30, 1998, the day the case was set for trial (R 90 -110). The court asked the prosecutor to relate what the case was about (R 92). The prosecutor responded that the offense occurred on August 5 or 1997 at the American Motel on 34th Street. The defendant accosted the victim as she was going to her motel room about 6 o'clock in the morning. He put a choke hold on her and forced her into the motel room and forcibly engaged in sexual intercourse with her and then left. (R

92). The victim reported the case to the police and at the time of the "SAVE" examination, the police took evidence which included a diaper-type item that she was wearing because she was on her menstrual cycle. It was sent to the lab. (R 92). Three or four days later, the defendant returned to the motel and was pointed out ; the victim identified him and he was chased down and subdued by bystanders. (R 93). He was questioned by police and denied having sex with the victim. A blood sample was taken from the defendant with his consent. A DNA comparison from the laboratory showed a match. (R 93)

The court asked what kind of record the petitioner had. The prosecutor responded that the petitioner was convicted in June of 1994 of two residential burglaries and two grand thefts and received a sentence of 3 ½ years imprisonment (R 93-94). The prosecutor stated that the petitioner was released from prison on May 31, 1996. (R 94).

The prosecutor advised the court of the petitioner's other prior offenses, "October 21, 1991, battery on a law enforcement officer. Four months county jail. February 12, 1988, burglary, attempted. Two years DOC. February 12th, petit theft, felony, times two. Two years DOC concurrent on that. Another one February 12, 1988. Sale of Counterfeit drug. Two years DOC, which he pled. Apparently, I assume, that's to a VOP. Then April of 19981, he had a burglary to a dwelling, Z-and-a-half years Department of Corrections as well, plus twelve misdemeanors." (R

94) .

The prosecutor stated that the petitioner qualified as a prison releasee reoffender and also as a violent career criminal based upon his past burglary convictions (R 94).

The defense stated that the victim was a cocaine user and possibly a cocaine addict, that the sex was consensual in exchange for cocaine, and that the petitioner had no prior sexual offenses at all (R 95).

Petitioner acknowledged that he had been to prison "at least three times." (R 95). The court stated that it appeared that as a result of the DNA match, petitioner's absolute denial to the police had been refuted. The court asked if there had been any plea offers, the prosecutor responded there had not (R 95).

The court offered the petitioner the minimum mandatory 15 years as a prison releasee reoffender and noted that if the petitioner went to trial and was convicted, that the state would be asking for a 30 year minimum mandatory as a violent felony offender (R 95). The court stated that it would sentence the petitioner to concurrent guidelines sentences on the possession of cocaine charges which were also pending (R 96).

Defense counsel stated that in light of the fact that the petitioner was "PRR" the defense was filing a standard motion to attack the constitutionality of the statute, prior to the petitioner deciding to except the offer (R 96). The court further advised the petitioner that he also qualified as an habitual fel-

ony offender which would be a 15 year sentence, but that the court would not impose an habitual violent felony offender sentence (R 96).

After a short recess, the defense announced that it wished to argue its motion to declare section 775.082(8) unconstitutional and also to determine that the act was not applicable to him because he was not in prison at the time the act was passed and that to apply it to him would be an ex post facto violation., that the act is cruel and unusual punishment and a violation of double jeopardy because it allows and classifies habitual felony offender, habitual violent felony offenders or violent career criminals to be subject to the prison releasee reoffender act; that it violates substantive due process under the state and federal constitution and violates equal protection (R 97-98)

The defense advised the court that the ex post facto argument had been heard and rejected by the Fourth District Court of Appeals. (R 98)

The state relied on its arguments as previously presented in other cases and also asked the court to adhere to its prior rulings in other cases which were the same issues and same motion as heard in the instant case. The state also pointed out that the statute constitutional as applied to the petitioner and not a n ex post facto violation. (R 98)

The Court stated that as it had previously ruled in other cases, it would deny the motion.

The state advised the court that as to the possession of cocaine offenses under the guidelines, deleting the sexual battery offense, which is a PRR and habitual felony offender case, petitioner's range was 47.85 months to 79.85 months. (R 99)

The suggested a sentence of 5 years concurrent with the sexual battery charge and the state concurred. (R 99). Defense counsel then stated that with the understanding that the petitioner would receive the minimum years as a prison releasee concurrent with the 5 years imposed on the two possession of cocaine cases and preserving the right to appeal the constitutionality of the prison releasee reoffender act, the petitioner would enter pleas of no contest to the sexual battery and guilty to the possession of cocaine (R 99-100). a plea colloquy then followed (R 100-105). a factual basis was given for the possession of cocaine cases (not a subject of the instant appeal) (R 103-104). Defense counsel waived petitioner's right to a presentence investigation report (R 105).

A sentencing packet was presented to the court regarding the sexual battery offense. The packet included a certificate from the Department of Corrections stating that the petitioner was released from prison on May 31, 1997 (R 105). The court noted that this establishes that the petitioner that the current offense which occurred in August of 1997 was within 3 years after his release from prison and establishes that the petitioner qualified for sentencing as a prison releasee reoffender (R 105-106).

The court then stated:

Accordingly, on the sexual battery offense, it would carry a minimum mandatory 15 year sentence, so I am imposing that 15 year sentence as a prison release reoffender.

(R 106)

The court then noted that another statute that applies is the habitual offender statute. The document reflects no pardons or executive clemency on any prior convictions; a certificate from the clerk of the court indicting no priors have been reversed; prior convictions for burglary and grand theft - a sentence of 3 ½ years imposed on June 6, 1994; battery of a law enforcement officer - a sentence of 120 days county jail imposed October 21, 1991; attempted burglary with a 2 year sentence imposed on February 12, 1988; two felony petty thefts with a 2 year sentence imposed on February 12, 1988; and sale of a counterfeit controlled substance - a 2 year sentence imposed February 12, 1988. (R 106-107)

The court found that the petitioner had the two prior felony convictions imposed on two separate dates and sentenced him as a habitual felony offender to 15 years for sexual battery . The court stated:

> These are not consecutive designations. These are concurrent designations.

(R 107)

The court rendered judgment and sentencing documents (R 75-79. The sentencing documents reflect 15 years imprisonment as

both a prison release reoffender and as a habitual felony offender (R 77-78) A notice of appeal was timely filed (R 82).

On appeal to the Second District Court of Appeals, the petitioner argued that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act (s. 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997)) was unconstitutional (issue I) because it (1) violates the single subject requirement of the state constitution (2) violates the constitutional doctrine of separation of powers (3) constitutes cruel and unusual punishment (4) is unconstitutionally vague (5) violates constitutional due process (6) violated constitutionally guaranteed equal protection and (7) violates the constitutional prohibition against of law ex post facto laws. Petitioner further argued (issue II) that the trial court's imposition of two sentences for the same offense one as a prison releasee reoffender and the other as a habitual felony offender violates the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy. The Second District Court of Appeals rejected the all of the constitutional arguments raised by the petitioner relying upon the analysis of other Florida district courts of appeal as to violations regarding the single subject requirement, separation of powers (in this instance, in addition to the First, Third, and Fifth Districts' finding that there was no violation of separation of powers even though it gives the prosecution exclusive authority to determine if any of the exceptions to the mandatory sentencing as set for in s. 775.082(8)(d) exist; the Second District found that there was no violation of separa-

tion of powers because the court retains the authority to determine under s. 775.082(8)(d) if any exceptions to the imposition of the mandatory sentences exist and retains the discretion not to impose the mandatory sentence if determines that a statutory exception exists), cruel and unusual punishment, vagueness, due process, equal protection, and ex post facto. The Second District also rejected the petitioner's argument that the trial court violated double jeopardy in sentencing the appellant to concurrent sentences as a prison releasee reoffender and as a habitual felony offender for the same offense.

Petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Respondent acknowledges that this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant case pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro 9.030(a)(2)(A)(I)(1999) because the decision construes the constitutional validity of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute.

Issue II: Respondent acknowledges that this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant case pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)(1999) because the decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of other district courts.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE OPINION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY DECLARES A STATUTE VALID, GIVING THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT DISCRE-TIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE CASE PURSU-ANT TO FLA. R. API?. PRO. 3.030(a)(2)(A)(I) (1999)

The respondent acknowledges that the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal expressly declares the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute (s. 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) to be valid and in doing so rejected constitutional attacks on the statute based upon: (1) the single subject rule (2) violation of separation of powers (3) cruel and unusual punishment (4) vagueness (5) due process (6) equal protection and (7) ex post facto. This Court, therefore, has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro 3.030(a) (2) (A) (I) (1999).

Numerous cases are presently pending before this Court regarding the validity of this statute based upon the constitutional grounds raised by the petitioner. This Court has already heard oral arguments regarding these issues in this case on November 3, 1999, in the cases of <u>McKnight v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), rev. granted 740 So.2d 528, and <u>Cotton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), *rev. granted* 737 So.2d *551* (Fla. 1999)

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S OPINION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS FROM OTHER DISTRICT COURTS ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER SENTENCING A DEFENDANT AS BOTH A PRISON RE-LEASEE REOFFENDER AND AS A HABITUAL FELONY OF-FENDER VIOLATES THE PROHIBITION AGAINST GIVING THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT DISCRETIONARY JURIS-DICTION PURSUANT TO FLA. R. APP. PRO. 3.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)(1999)

The respondent acknowledges that the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal holding that it **is not a violation of** double jeopardy to ssentencea defendant as both a prison releasee reoffender and as a habitual felony offender for the same offense so long as the sentences run concurrently expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Melton v.</u> <u>State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2719 (Fla. 4th DCA December 8, 1999) relying on its analysis in <u>Adams v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2394 (Fla. 4th DCA October 20, 1999)and with the reasoning of the Fifth District in <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2763 (Fla. 5th DCA December 10, 1999). This Court, therefore, has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. Pro. 3.030(a) (2) (A) (iv) (1999)

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Court grant review in the instant case.